FILED
SID J. WHITE
SEP 14 1992

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

ERIC A. RANDALL,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 80,320

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLEN P. GIFFORD ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER FLA, BAR #0664261

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged petitioner, ERIC ALEXIS RANDALL, with second-degree murder with a firearm and attempted second-degree murder. (R7-8, 39-40). The state filed notice of intent to classify petitioner as a habitual violent felony offender. (R26) Defense counsel moved to suppress an incriminating written statement by the defendant. (R21-23) Circuit Judge L. Page Haddock presided over a hearing on the suppression motion. (T1-80) At the conclusion of witness testimony and argument from both sides, Judge Haddock denied the motion and ruled the statement admissible. (T81-85, R24)

A jury was selected, and trial commenced before Judge Frederick Tygart. (T93-215) After Dwayne Cosby, a witness who had been unavailable but resurfaced just before trial, testified that the defendant told him not to talk to the police, defense

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In this brief, references to trial and hearing transcripts appear as (T[page number]), while citations to pleadings, orders and other paperwork appear as (R[page number]).

counsel moved for a mistrial. (T487-488) Counsel argued that the testimony was evidence of witness tampering, a collateral offense, as well as a statement of the defendant, and that the state provided no notice that Cosby would go into either area.

(T487-488) The state asserted that it had provided notice just after Cosby resurfaced, four days before trial. (T488) The court denied the motion for mistrial. (T494)

Defense counsel moved to exclude the testimony of Darryl Cummings, a previously unavailable witness whom the state located during trial. (T494) At the conclusion of a hearing, the court declined to exclude the witness, but ruled that defense counsel could depose him before he testified, (T512) Counsel had argued that a deposition at that point would not be satisfactory. (T499) After Cummings' deposition, defense counsel again objected to his testimony, arguing that he could not investigate Cummings' anticipated testimony that petitioner had urged him to avoid the police. (T591) The objection was overruled, (T592)

Defense counsel also moved for mistrial based on prosecutorial misconduct in a sequence of events, including a perjury charge against Rasheed Sanders, that culminated in Sanders' refusal to testify for the defense. (T517-522, R65-68) The motion was denied. (T524) The defense learned that Sanders would decline to testify under the Fifth Amendment, and sought the state's promise of immunity for Sanders' trial testimony. (T534-535, 593) Alternatively, the defense sought to introduce Sanders' deposition. (T535, 946) The prosecutor made no response other than to state immunity was a decision wholly within his

discretion. (T946) The trial court agreed. Defense counsel requested that the court grant immunity for Sanders' trial testimony, but the court did not directly respond to the request. (T962) Sanders personally appeared and, through counsel, exercised his Fifth Amendment privilege. (T942) The court ruled Sanders' deposition inadmissible because it was not taken pursuant to the rule to perpetuate testimony. (T998)

Also during its case in chief, the state proffered evidence on the Miranda issue on which there had been a pretrial hearing. (T778-790) The court ruled petitioner's statements admissible, again aver defense objection. (T791-794)

After presentation of evidence by both sides, closing arguments and final instructions, the jury deliberated more than two hours before returning verdicts of guilty as charged of second-degree murder with a firearm and attempted second-degree murder with a firearm. (T1183, R108-109)

Defense counsel filed and argued a motion for new trial, which was denied. (R110-113, 130, T1192-1200) In support of its notice to seek a habitual violent felony offender sentence, the state produced evidence that petitioner was convicted of aggravated battery in 1990. (T1203-1205) The Court adjudicated petitioner guilty and imposed a guideline sentence of 27 years imprisonment for second-degree murder with a firearm (a life felony), concurrent to a life sentence with a 15-year mandatory minimum term as a habitual violent offender for attempted second-degree murder with a firearm (a first-degree felony). (T1252, R131-135)

Petitioner raised five issues in the district court, including four trial issues. The court addressed only the sentencing issue, and certified a question of great public importance on that issue. The court's opinion is included **as** an appendix to this brief.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### I. SUPPRESSION HEARING

Alfred Bachert, a Jacksonville sheriff's detective, interrogated petitioner two days after the April 28, 1990 shootings of Giles and Hagans. (T7-10) Bachert testified that on the morning of April 30, petitioner arrived at the sheriff's office with Bachert's business card, which an officer had left with a relative of petitioner. (T10, 30) Bachert had spoken with petitioner's mother, who called from the hospital where she was undergoing tests, the previous day. (T9) Petitioner's mother said she'd have petitioner come to the sheriff's office. (T9)

Bachert interviewed petitioner alone. (T11) He had petitioner, then 20 years old, sign a rights waiver form that Bachert then recorded as having been executed at 11:10 a.m. (T13, State Suppression Hearing Exhibit 1) Bachert testified that this was a mistake; the time was actually 10:10 a.m. (T13) Bachert testified that petitioner said he was not intoxicated, and that he appeared free from stress ok the influence of intoxicants. (T17, 28) After the Miranda warnings, Bachert questioned petitioner about the shootings two days earlier. (T15) Petitioner said he was present and had seen the shooting, but did not participate.

(T15) Bachert had petitioner commit this statement to paper, and recorded the time of the statement as 10:15 a.m. (Tl5, 17, State Suppression Hearing Exhibit 2). Bachert then told petitioner he was lying, and placed him under arrest for murder. (T38-39) Bachert confronted petitioner with statements by several persons, including Darryl Cummings, which identified petitioner as the shooter. (T15) Bachert gave petitioner Cummings' statement to read, and left the room for about five minutes to fill out an arrest report. (T20, 39) Bachert wrote 10:30 a.m. as the time on the arrest report. (R1) Upon his return, according to Bachert, petitioner wanted to tell the detective "what really happened," (T39) Petitioner then filled out and signed a second statement, in which he said that he fired at the two victims when one reached into his pants or under his shirt, grabbing what petitioner believed to be a weapon. (T22-23, St. Ex. 11). The detective testified that petitioner wanted to tear up his first statement, but Bachert refused, (T24) Bachert did not readvise petitioner of his constitutional rights before the second statement, which Bachert recorded as being given at 10:30 a.m. (T23, 38, State Suppression Hearing Exhibit 3)

Petitioner testified that he went to the police station on April 30 after receiving Bachert's card from his brother. (T43) He had an idea what the police wanted to discuss after he had talked to Darryl Cummings. (T44) At that time, petitioner's mother was hospitalized with a possible brain tumor. (T44-45) Petitioner unsuccessfully attempted to contact several lawyers. (T46) His cousin volunteered to take him to the police station,

but would not take a side trip first to a lawyer's office because she didn't want to be stopped with him in the car. (T46) Before going to the police station, petitioner took two pills to calm his nerves, and also drank a beer that morning. (T47, 54) Upon their arrival at the police station, the officer refused his cousin's request to be present during questioning. (T53) Petitioner stated that after he gave his first statement, Bachert told him he was lying, and that three witnesses verified that petitioner committed the shootings. (T50-51) The detective said he had spoken with petitioner's mother, that he was only trying to **help** petitioner, and that petitioner could avoid a life sentence or execution if he cooperated. (T50) Bachert left the room and returned, then told petitioner he could claim self-defense and go home in 30 days. (T63) Worried over his mother's condition, petitioner agreed. (T70) Bachert made suggestions as petitioner wrote a second statement in which, following the suggestions, petitioner wrote that he fired his gun after seeing one of the victims reach into his pants for what appeared to be a weapon. (T51, 65) Petitioner testified that he did not know whether the time Bachert put on the rights form was a mistake, but that the detective did not advise petitioner of his rights until after petitioner wrote out and signed both statements. (T52) Petitioner testified that his first statement was the truth, but that Bachert seemed very frustrated by it. (T52) Petitioner said the medication he took had an effect on him, especially in combination with Bachert's confrontational approach. (T48)

Petitioner's cousin, Thelmecia Ann Carson, testified at the suppression hearing. She said that on the afternoon of April 29, she gave petitioner some Elavil (an antidepressant) because he was upset about his mother's condition. (T75) The next day, she gave him another Elavil at approximately 9 a.m., and saw two cans of Schlitz Malt Liquor on the table next to petitioner. (T76-77) She took him to the police station, refusing to go by a lawyer's office first because it was not en route. (T77) Bachert would not let her accompany petitioner into the interrogation room. (T78)

#### II. TRIAL

At the time of trial, Eric Randall was a 21-year-old resident of Jacksonville, Many of the state witnesses in this case were either friends or acquaintances of Randall, including Dwayne Cosby, Darryl Cummings, Darrell Williams, Kevin Williams and Cedric Pugh. Defense witnesses Shawn Robinson and Timothy Brock were also petitioner's friends. Rasheed Sanders, who was to have testified for the defense but exercised his Fifth Amendment privilege, was also a friend of petitioner. The two victims in this case were Nathan Hagans, who was killed, and Vincent Giles, who was injured. Angelina Giles is the wife of Giles and sister of Hagans.

Below, events are presented in a four-part sequence, beginning with a confrontation involving the victims and several witnesses at the Jacksonville Landing, moving to events in the interim between the initial and subsequent confrontations, then to the second argument and shooting at JD's bar, and concluding with witness statements and other events after the shooting.

### A. The Jacksonville Landing

Angelina Giles testified that in the early morning hours of April 28, 1990, she accompanied her husband Nathan Giles and brother Vincent Hagans to a bar in the Jacksonville Landing. (T268-269) Upon leaving the bar, Hagans and Nathan Giles argued with a man she later learned was Darryl Cummings, (T270) Cummings was part of a group of 10 or more black males, she said. (270) Nathan Giles and Cummings had bumped into one another. (T271, 668) Nathan Giles testified that he pulled out a \$100 bill and told Cummings, "If you can take it, you are welcome to it, boy; otherwise, leave me alone." (T670) Cummings' friends stepped between the two men and carried Cummings away. (T271, 671) Nathan Giles said he had no weapon, and saw none on Cummings. (T669-670) Angelina Giles told her husband days later that **a** bulge in Cummings' pants looked like a gun, and that she saw Cummings start to reach for the gun. (T283-284, 686-687) The Gileses and Hagans left the Landing, and eventually went to JD's club. (T672) They were traveling in a gold Audi. (T672)

Darryl Cummings testified about **the** argument with Giles inside the Landing. (T601-603) He said he had no weapon, and **saw** none on anyone else during the dispute. (T603) Kevin Williams, a friend of Cummings, broke up the argument. (T603) Williams testified that while holding out the \$100 bill, Giles said to Cummings, "I will beat your behind." (T397) Giles also told Cummings, "You think your **are** bad because you have a Gucci

Cadillac." (T418) Williams and Cedric Pugh, a friend of Cummings, testified he heard Giles tell Cummings he would kill him and put him in his mama's lap. (T369, 420) Just after the argument, a friend informed Cummings that someone had damaged his car outside. (T603) This was the Gucci Cadillac, a limited edition model. (T364, 638) Pugh testified that when Cummings saw the damage to the car, which included several bullet holes, scratches and broken windshield wipers, he became angry. (T365) Cummings testified that he didn't notice any bullet holes. (T604) Nathan Giles testified that he walked by Cummings' car while leaving the Landing, but did not vandalize it. (T697-698) At the time, he did not know the car belonged to Cummings. (T698) Cummings said he thought Nathan Giles might have caused the damage and admitted he was "pretty hot," but calmed down when he realized he was insured. (T604, 625-627) Kevin Williams said Cummings was talking out of his head. (T423) Shawn Robinson, a defense witness, testified that he heard Cummings tell police officers that they better take him to jail right then before he hurt or killed someone. (T904, 923)

Shawn Robinson and petitioner were together at the Landing. (T918) Robinson said he did not see petitioner with a gun that evening. (T900) After petitioner went to Cummings' car to see why he was upset, Robinson picked both petitioner and Cummings up as they were walking away from the Landing. (T918-919) Cummings testified that his cousin Glen drove the Gucci Cadillac home. (T638) Robinson and petitioner dropped Cummings off at his

house. (T606) Cummings testified that he did not see petitioner again until the shooting at JD's. (T614)

### B. The Interim

Kevin Williams testified that he left the Landing in a car with his brother Darrell, Cedric Pugh and a person he knows as Boo. (T398) They went to a Krystal, where they met someone who said they were going to the club for a fight. (T398) Kevin Williams said he had heard Giles or Hagans say as they left the Landing that they were going to JD's club. (T424) Cummings testified that he had discussed going to JD's earlier in the evening. (T607) He took his mother's Chevrolet. (T607) He met Kevin Williams, Cedric Pugh and some other guys in another car en route. (T607) They followed Cummings. He also ran into Dwayne Cosby, who accompanied Cummings after he dropped off his girlfriend. (T607) Cosby testified that he had not been at the Landing. (T449) Cedric Pugh testified to being in one of three cars that went to JD's. (T370) He said that beforehand, they drove through a neighborhood looking for Vincent Hagans. (T371) Pugh was in one car with Cummings and a person named Felix. (T370) Cummings' cousin Glen (perhaps the same person called Felix by Pugh) was also present. (T606) In another car were Dwayne Cosby, Rasheed Sanders and Darrell Williams. (T371) Petitioner was in none of the three cars, according to Pugh. (T370) Pugh said the group intended to set up a fistfight between Cummings and Nathan Giles. (T374) He also said Kevin Williams had a .22-caliber pistol. (T374) Kevin Williams admitted having the gun, but said he left it in the car. (T401)

Timothy Brock, a defense witness, testified that he picked petitioner up as he was walking to the store. (T931) Petitioner was wearing a sweatsuit and no hat, according to Brock. (T931) He wasn't carrying a white towel or a bag, and had no gun. (T932) Petitioner did not mention anything about a fight at the Landing or damage to Cummings' car, and seemed to be in a good mood. (T932, 937) As they passed JD's, petitioner saw a car he recognized -- Cummings' Chevrolet -- and asked Brock to drop him off. (T934) Petitioner said he could get a ride home from Cummings. (T934, 939)

Nathan Giles said that after he, his wife and brother-in-law left the Landing, they stopped briefly at a second club before heading to JD's. (T672) Upon arriving at JD's, they parked on the right side of the parking lot and went inside. (T672-673)

### C. JD's Club

According to Nathan Giles, he saw his mother shortly after arriving at JD's, and decided to leave. (T673) He then saw his brother-in-law, Hagans, walking outside, and accompanied him to tell him they were leaving. (T674) Giles didn't realize Hagans was accompanying anyone else outside, and didn't notice that the person next to him was Cummings, the man with whom he'd argued at the Landing. (T675) Angelina Giles said she saw Cummings and another man come inside the club and ask her husband and brother to come outside. (T275) She followed them outside, and went to their car. (T279)

Nathan Giles testified that just outside the club, Cummings said his car had been vandalized at the Landing, and insinuated

that Giles was responsible. (T675-676) Angelina Giles was out of view at the car by then, according to Nathan. (T676) Nathan Giles did not see the defendant. (T676) The argument continued but did not become physical, he said. (T677) Giles said he put up his hands as if to say, "That's all I had to say, you know, sorry," tapped Hagans on the shoulder, and told him they were leaving. (T677) As they turned to walk toward the car, both men were shot. (T678) Giles did not see who had shot them, but concluded that from their relative positions, it could not have been Cummings. (T679)

Cummings testified that he and his cousin Glen walked inside the club, but turned to leave upon seeing Giles and Hagans.

(T609) The two men followed them out, and Cummings asked what was the problem. (T610) Giles, drink in hand, said he was going to kick Cummings' ass, and stood ready to fight. (T611) Cummings said he accused the men of damaging his car, and asked what else they wanted. (T612) He noticed Giles put his hand under his shirt, which was hanging loose outside his pants. T611) At the same moment, Giles told Hagans, "Go to the car and get my shit."

(T611) Cummings testified that he turned to walk back into the club when he heard a gunshot. (T611-612) He looked back and saw petitioner firing a gun. (T614) Cummings didn't know where petitioner, who was wearing a hat, had come from. (T614-615) Cummings heard four or five shots, and saw no one else shooting. (T615)

Cedric Pugh saw the confrontation from a short distance away. (T348) He saw Cummings back **up** and put his hands in the

air. (T349) Giles also backed up, and Hagans started to walk away, either to the club or the car. (T349-350) At that point petitioner appeared, pulled a towel away from his hand and began shooting. T351) As Pugh turned to run, he saw Hagans fall to the ground (T351-352) Kevin Williams was closer to the confrontation than Pugh. (T398-399) He also heard the argument, and testified that as Cummings turned and threw his hands in the air, petitioner came out of the crowd and started shooting. (T399) Giles had tapped Hagans on the shoulder and both were also turning away when the shots started. (T404) Petitioner appeared to have come from across the street, according to Williams. (T404) The shots first struck Hagans, who fell, then Giles. (T406-407)

Dwayne Cosby testified that Cummings had his hands on his pants, pulling them up, when the first shot was fired. (T456) Cosby saw petitioner come from his left side and shoot Hagans. (T456) Cosby watched Hagans fall, and heard more shots. (T457) Cosby said he was five feet away from the Hagans and Giles, and saw no one but petitioner with a weapon. (T456)

A defense witness, Audrey Corey, said she saw a group of six men complain about scratches on the car before going inside the club. (T970) They returned outside with several others. (T970, 971) One guy, who was complaining about scratches on his car, walked to the end of the club, then pulled a gun from his pants and started firing back in the direction of the club. (T971-973) Corey heard five shots, and saw another man with a gun.

(T972-974) After the shooting, both men got into **a** car which a policeman fired upon **as** it left the scene. (T975-976)

Kevin Williams testified that after the shooting, he and the others ran toward their cars. (T408) As he ran, Williams heard Dwayne Cosby say that Eric was shooting them. (T409) Inside the car, he heard more shooting coming in his direction, reached under the seat for his gun and fired into the air. (T408, 437) He didn't see where petitioner went. (T508) Cedric Pugh was in the same car, and also testified to the shots fired by Williams as they left. (T353) Dwayne Cosby said that the tire of his car was shot out as he drove away, and now knows that shot was fired by the police. (T462) He said he went down the street and called the police. (T462) Cummings testified that only he and his cousin Glen were in his car as they left the scene, and that neither of them had guns. (T617-618)

Vincent Hagans died of a gunshot wound to the head. (T737) The bullet was .32 or .38-caliber. (T739) The medical examiner testified that it was probably fired from a distance of two feet or more. (T740) Hagans had a blood-alcohol level of .12 at the time of this death. (T742) Giles testified that he suffered three shots, all through-and-through, and was hospitalized seven days. (T686)

## D. Aftermath

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