OCT 9 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

ERIC A. RANDALL,

Petitioner,

vs .

Case No. 80,320

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

VS.

Case No. 80,358

ERIC A. RANDALL,

Appellee.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0325791

CHARLIE MCCOY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL, FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0333646

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

If admission of Randall's statement were error, it was harmless. Given the strength of the State's case and weakness of the defense, the incriminating statement could not have affected the outcome of the verdict.

ISSUE 111: Perjury Proceedings Against State Witness

This issue also is outside the scope of the jurisdictional question, and should not be **reached**. One State witness, whose sworn statement very soon after the shooting identified Randall as the murderer, simply changed his story not long before trial. He did so in a deposition in which he claimed he was lying in his first statement. The prosecutor charged him with perjury; the witness invoked the Fifth Amendment.

The prosecutor's decision to file perjury charges was made in good faith, and was not misconduct. Randall cites no authority to the contrary. Nothing in the record establishes the State's witness was even designated as a witness for the defense. Given that the witness admitted he had lied, and that he would be badly impeached however he testified; Randall's claim that he was deprived of a favorable witness becomes ridiculous. For the reasons stated in Issues II and IV, any misconduct by the prosecutor was harmless error.

ISSUE IV: Exclusion of Discovery Deposition

As yet another ancillary issue not necessary to disposition of the case, this issue should not be reached. The trial court properly excluded the deposition of the State witness who invoked the Fifth Amendment (see, Issue III herein), as that deposition did not meet the requirements for admission under §90,804(2), Fla. Stat. Moreover, there was indication that the deposition was obtained through Appellant's wrongdoing. If exclusion were error, that error was harmless.

ISSUE V: Admission of Testimony by Late-Located State Witness

As with Issues II through IV, this ancillary issue should not be reached. The trial court did not abuse its discretion, under the total circumstances, in refusing to exclude testimony by a disclosed State witness who could not be found until shortly before trial. Any prejudice arose through Randall's wrongdoing; that is, his attempts to persuade the witness not to be deposed,

rather than through any untimeliness by the State. For the reasons stated in Issues II - IV, any error by the trial court was harmless.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS CAN BE DENIED MERELY BY THE NUMBER OF SUBJECTS IN A LEGISLATIVE ACT.

A. Preservation of the Substantive Issue

The one-subject challenge to ch. 89-280, Laws of Florida, was not raised before the trial court. It is not fundamental error. Therefore, the First District was without jurisdiction to consider the issue for the first time; and therefore without jurisdiction to certify an attendant question to this court.

The State relies on the argument in Issue I of its initial brief and reply brief in State v. Randall, case no. 80,358. The opinion below must be vacated and the trial court affirmed on this issue.

B. Merits

1. Validity of Sentence

Both components (habitual felons/career criminals and motor vehicle repossession) of ch. 89-280 relate to controlling crime. The First District must be reversed on this point and the certified question answered in the negative. The State relies on the argument in Issue II of its initial brief in State v. Randall, case no. 80,358.

2. Resentencing

Not content to attack his actual sentence, Randall prematurely and incorrectly seeks a guidelines sentence. He analogizes to guidelines departure case law, and contends that he cannot be resentenced as an habitual (nonviolent) felon, assuming the State can prove the requisite prior convictions. He is logically and legally wrong.

Logically, resentencing Randall as a nonviolent cannot result in a penalty as severe as his original sentence; as sentences for nonvialent habitual felons do not carry mandatory Legally, there is no justification to preclude an minimums. habitual felon sentence on remand -- the trial court would not be manufacturing new case-specific reasons, but simply citing to additional convictions. Randall's criminal history will not have changed between his first sentencing and any resentencing. King v. State, 590 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (when state failed to overcome hearsay objection as to documentation of appellant's release date, nothing prevents the state from presenting sufficient evidence to again classify defendant as habitual); State, 584 So.2d 116 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(double jeopardy does not prevent resentencing a defendant as habitual, when first habitual felon sentence relied upon nonsequential convictions). Randall's argument to the contrary is simply wishful thinking. until he has actually been resentenced as an habitual felon, there is no reason for the court to rule on this issue. argument is also premature.

ISSUE II

WHETHER A SUSPECT MUST RECEIVE NEW <u>MIRANDA</u> WARNINGS AFTER EVERY SHORT **BREAK** IN OUESTIONING

A. Jurisdictional Considerations

This issue is far outside the scope of the certified question, and **not** necessary to disposition of the case once the certified question is answered. The State respectfully suggests that the court decline to exercise its authority to review this ancillary issue. See, Ross v. State, 17 F.L.W. S367, 368 (Fla. June 18, 1992)(declining to review several issues that were "beyond the scope of the issue for which jurisdiction lies").

B. Merits

In a nutshell, Randall maintains that new <u>Miranda</u> warnings are required every time there is a break in questioning, and the police ask a subject if he or she is telling the truth. No authority is cited that would declare these events to be such a serious change of circumstances as to require re-advisement of <u>Miranda</u> rights.

Before responding on the merits, the State must point out that Randall actually received <u>two</u> suppression hearings. The first was before Judge Haddock and is discussed herein; the second was before Judge Tygart. In the latter, essentially the same evidence was elicited. (T 778-91). Judge Tygart, who presided at trial, also found Randall's statement voluntary and admissible. (T 794).

Randall does not contest the second hearing. Therefore, he has conceded this issue. Randall also **concedes** that <u>Miranda</u> warnings were given before the first statement, as he now argues only that new warnings were required due to "drastically" or "vastly" changed circumstances. In this light, the trial court's verbal findings and observations looms large:

THE COURT: Okay.

Well, I don't know of anything in any appellate decisions or in any United States court that makes a statement inadmissible because a police officer pointed his finger or told you in the interview he thought his statement was I can't think of why any police officer that was going to violate the law in the way that Mr. Randall's testimony would have us believe he did, if a police officer set out to conspire to do this to someone, why would he not just put the same time on all three forms would be beyond me. But why would you conspire to violate someone's rights like that and then put the incorrect times? It makes no sense at all. And, by the same token, if you are -- if Mr. Randall was merely writing down what the officer told him, I find it very difficult to believe he would embroider all these extra details into what he was writing. (T84-5).

In short, the trial court heard testimony as to the circumstances under which the statements were obtained, and -- in light of Randall's unworthiness of belief (T 85) -- found the statements to be voluntary.

Randall ignores the legal principles applied to review of suppression orders. Trial court orders on suppression are presumptively correct, and the reviewing court must interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences most in favor of sustaining such orders. Owens v. State, 560 So.2d 207, 211 (Fla. 1990), cert.

denied, 112 L.Ed.2d 118 (1990). See, Caso v. State, 524 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1988)(trial court's finding as to whether suspect in custody presumptively correct and would not be overturned if supported by substantial and competent evidence).

Defense counsel tersely presented, in the alternative, the argument that re-advisement of Miranda rights was required. (T 32). Therefore, the issue is preserved. In light of this, it must be assumed that the trial court did not find a change in circumstances requiring a re-advisement. There is competent and substantial factual evidence ta support this conclusion. First, Randall went to the police voluntarily, albeit in response to a card left by the police detective. (T 30, 42-8). He arrived about 10:00 a.m. (T 42), and apparently was escorted to an interview room promptly. (T 10-11). The detective gave Randall his Miranda warnings a few minutes later (T 14), and immediately upon seeing him in the "homicide office." (T 10-13).

Randall was alone (T14), but questioned only by Detective Bachert. He was not handcuffed. He acknowledged that his second statement was given about 10:30 a.m. (T49), although he claimed his Miranda rights were not given until 11:10 a.m. (T49).

Therefore, even under Randall's version, he was questioned not more than an hour by only one detective, **and** was not handcuffed. After obtaining Randall's first statement, the detective told Randall he was lying, as a statement had already been obtained from Darryl Cummings (Randall's friend). That statement attributed the shooting to Randall. (T 37).

Randall was then told he was under arrest for murder. He gave his second statement. (T 38-9). Significantly, the detective testified that he did not curse Randall, and particularly did not tell Randall to write down "what really happened," (T 39-40).

Therefore, the only changes in circumstances are the facts that Randall was told he was lying (based on his friend's statement), and that he was under arrest for murder. This was only about 15 minutes after the first statement was given (T 37); itself only a brief time after the <u>Miranda</u> warnings. Randall's claim, that interrogation "effectively began anew" (initial brief, **p.** 21), is factually and legally incorrect.

Restated, Randall would benefit from his own wrongdoing. He was given Miranda warnings before any questioning began. Suppose, however that Randall were immediately arrested for murder; given Miranda warnings; told of his friend's statement; and directed to tell the truth. Randall's confession would not have been tainted. Instead, and in a brief time, Randall gave a false statement followed by a "confession." Through the intervening event of his own false statement, Randall would create the right to new Miranda warnings, when no such right existed had he told the truth from the start.

Although a habeas proceeding, <u>Ballard v. Johnson</u>, 821 F.2d 568 (11th Cir. 1987), is instructive. Ballard voluntarily went to a police station to inquire about discovery of the victim's body. He was questioned for 20 minutes, then again for 30 more minutes by the victim's uncle. During the second questioning, Ballard confessed; then he confessed a second time. *Id.* at 569.

All police officers testified that Ballard received <u>Miranda</u> warnings and executed a waiver before any questioning, although the waiver was dated at a time after the confessions. Ballard was transported to the sheriff's office in another town, and -- in the evening, about 4 hours after his initial confession -- confessed for a third time before four officers. *Id.* at 570.

Ballard claimed that he should have been "readvised of his Miranda rights during the evening interrogation." *Id.* at 571. Rejecting this point readily, the court found that the only break in his questioning was the trip from the police station to the sheriff's office.

Here, there was no break in questioning, other than a very brief lapse which the detective made a copy of the statement by Randall's friend. (T 20). Ballard involved repeated confessions, the last one before four people several hours after the first two confessions. Here, there was one written confession, about 15 minutes after the first.

Randall does not contend the detective's statement that Randall was lying, or that the detective's revelation that Randall's friend had named him as the murderer, are of themselves improper. Consequently, his complaint is really no more than his wishful thinking; that whenever questioning — after a voluntary waiver of Mkranda warnings — becomes more focused or intense, new warnings are required. This is not true. See, Martin v. Wainwright, 770 F.2d 918, 929-31 (11th Cir. 1985)(seven day lapse between initial Miranda warnings and defendant-initiated waiver and

confession is not require "needlessly repetitious," complete Miranda warnings).

Randall does not claim, and nothing in the record reveals, any signs of promises or inducements, or physical coercion. Randall never asked that questioning stop, or that he be allowed to contact a lawyer. Aware that Randall was lying, the detective told Randall as much and revealed the friend's statement. The friend's statement was not a ruse.

No claim is made that the police ever gave false information to Randall. He does not claim that he did not understand his Miranda rights. He does not, and could not, claim any improper interrogation techniques or inducements were used. His confession was voluntary, and was not tainted by the lack of new Miranda warnings a few minutes after those warnings were first given. See, State v. Moore, 530 So.2d 349 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) (confession voluntary when suspect understood and waived his Miranda rights, despite the fact that police misrepresented the nature and amount of evidence against defendant), relying upon, Frazier v. Cupp, 394 U.S. 731, 89 S.Ct. 1420, 22 L.Ed.2d 684 (1969) (murder confession voluntary despite fact one suspect was told his partner had confessed).

After receiving <u>Miranda</u> warnings, Randall was questioned for one-half an hour by completely proper, non-coercive methods. Simply because the police detective did not lay all his cards on the table at the outset does not require re-advisement of <u>Miranda</u> rights every 15 minutes. Randall's position would force police to

reveal everything they know up front, thereby perhaps stunning a suspect otherwise willing to talk into silence. Moreover, it would create a right to re-advisement when the police reveal information in response to a suspect's false statement. Not often, one would assume, does a murderer so boldly claim the benefit of his own wrongdoing. Randall's argument must be rejected.

On page 27 of his initial brief, Randall claims impropriety in the fact that he was not told he was under arrest until after his first statement, allegedly in violation of 8901.17, Fla. Stat. This point is not preserved, as it was not raised in the First District or before the trial court. Randall would have this court construe and apply §901.17 for the very first time in this case.

Randall went to the police station voluntarily, was escorted to an interrogation room and given Miranda warnings before his first statement., Randall attempted to exculpate himself by lying. His belated claim that he should have been told he was under arrest — tenuously supported by the testimony from the detective that Randall was not free to leave — is ridiculous. Randall obviously intended to lie his way out; his point is pure speculation.

The only authority cited by Randall is State v. Madruqa-Jimenez, 485 So.2d 462, 465 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied, 492 So.2d 1335 (Fla. 1986). There, the police were held to have violated §901.16, Fla. Stat., which addresses arrests made upon a warrant. Here, no warrant had been issued; Randall was voluntarily at the station. Madruqa also involved substantial violations of Miranda, including the failure to give the warnings before asking questions "likely to elicit incriminating responses." Id. at 465. Nothing of that sort is present here. Nothing in Madruga indicates a failure to tell a person he or she is under arrest -- when that person has received Miranda warnings -- is of itself reversible error. Also, Madruga involved a lapse of 1½ hours between initial questioning and notice of arrest. Id. at 463, n. 1. Here, only a few minutes passed -- during which Randall gave a false exculpatory statement. Nothing in the record or in Madruga supports this non-preserved point.

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